Risk of Anal Cancer in a Cohort With Human Papillomavirus – Related

Gynecologic Neoplasm

Submitted by

Abdulaziz M. Saleem, MD

In partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of

Master of Science

in

Clinical Research and Translational Science

TUFTS UNIVERSITY

Sackler School of Graduate Biomedical Sciences

May 2011

ADVISER: Jessica Paulus, ScD

Abstract

Background: To assess the development of anal cancer in women diagnosed with a human papillomavirus-related cervical, vulvar, or vaginal neoplasm.

Methods: Using data from National Cancer Institute's Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results program from 1973 through 2007, 189,206 cases with either in situ or invasive cervical, vulvar, or vaginal neoplasm were followed for 138,553,519 person – years for the development of subsequent primary anal cancer. Standardized incidence ratios were calculated from the observed number of subsequent anal cancers compared with those expected based on age-, race- and calendar year- specific rates in the nonaffected population.

Results: Anal cancer developed in 255 women with a history of in situ or invasive gynecologic neoplasm, aggregate standardized incidence ratio of 13.6 (95% confidence interval [CI] 11.9 - 15.3), indicating a 13-fold increase in anal cancer compared with expected. The standardized incidence ratio for anal cancer incidence among women with in situ vulvar cancer was 22.2 (95% CI 16.7 – 28.4) and was 17.4 (95% CI 11.5 – 24.4) for those with invasive vulvar cancer. The standardized incidence ratio for anal cancer ratio for anal cancer incidence in women with in situ cervical cancer was 16.4 (95% CI 13.7 – 19.2) and was 6.2 (95% CI 4.1 – 8.7) for women with invasive cervical cancer. The standardized incidence ratio for anal cancer was 7.6 (95% CI 2.4 – 15.6) and was 1.8 (95% CI 0.2 – 5.3) for invasive vaginal cancer.

Conclusions: Women with human papillomavirus-related gynecologic neoplasm are at higher risk for developing anal cancer compared with the general population. This high-risk population may benefit from close observation and screening for anal cancer.

Acknowledgements

I am deeply grateful to my clinical and research mentor, Dr. Rocco Ricciardi, who provided me with the idea of this project, and helped me in editing the paper. Also, I would like to thank Jessica Paulus for her help and great contribution in the study design, statistical analysis, and editing the paper. This work would not have been possible without their help.

Table of Contents

LIST OF TABLES	vi
Background	
METHODS	
Data	
Patient selection	
Subsequent Anal Cancer	
Statistical Analysis	
RESULTS	
Index Cohort	
Risk of Anal Cancer	
Latency of Anal Cancer	
The effect of Radiation therapy	
Tables	
References	
Appendix I: Expanded Background	
References to Appendix I	
Appendix II: Results of the Restrictive Method	
Index Cohort	
Risk of Anal Cancer	
Latency of Anal Cancer	
The effect of Radiation therapy	
Appendix III: Tables of the Restrictive Method	

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 1. CHARACTERISTICS OF COHORT WITH CERVICAL, VAGINAL, AND VULVAR NEOPLASM USING THE	
INCLUSIVE METHOD.	13
TABLE 2. CHARACTERISTICS OF ANAL CANCER PATIENTS WITH INITIAL GYNECOLOGIC NEOPLASM USING	
The Inclusive Method.	14
TABLE 3. STANDARDIZED INCIDENCE RATIO OF ANAL CANCER IN PATIENTS WITH IN SITU AND INVASIVE	
GYNECOLOGIC NEOPLASM DIVIDED BY RACE USING THE INCLUSIVE METHOD.	15
TABLE 4. TIME INTERVAL BETWEEN GYNECOLOGIC NEOPLASM AND ANAL CANCER.	16
TABLE 5. STANDARDIZED INCIDENCE RATIO OF ANAL CANCER AMONG WOMEN WITH INVASIVE CERVICAL	L,
AND VULVAR NEOPLASIA BY MODE OF TREATMENT.	17

Appendix III:

TABLE 6. CHARACTERISTICS OF COHORT WITH CERVICAL, VAGINAL, AND VULVAR NEOPLASM USING THE
RESTRICTIVE METHOD
TABLE 7. CHARACTERISTICS OF PATIENTS WITH ANAL CANCER WITH INITIAL GYNECOLOGIC NEOPLASM
USING THE RESTRICTIVE METHOD
TABLE 8. STANDARDIZED INCIDENCE RATIO OF ANAL CANCER IN PATIENTS WITH IN SITU AND INVASIVE
GYNECOLOGIC NEOPLASM DIVIDED BY RACE USING THE RESTRICTIVE METHOD
TABLE 9. TIME INTERVAL BETWEEN GYNECOLOGIC NEOPLASM AND ANAL CANCER USING THE RESTRICTIVE
Method
TABLE 10. STANDARDIZED INCIDENCE RATIO OF ANAL CANCER AMONG WOMEN WITH INVASIVE CERVICAL
AND VULVAE NEOPLASM BY MODE OF TREATMENT USING THE RESTRICTIVE METHOD

Background

Squamous cell cancer of the anus is a rare malignancy that constitutes 1-2% of all gastrointestinal tumors. The American Cancer Society estimates that 5,260 incident anal cancer cases and approximately 720 attributable deaths will have occurred in 2010 [1]. The incidence of anal cancer has increased significantly over the past 2 – 3 decades [2]. In a population-based review of the Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results (SEER) cancer registry, a 2.8 fold increase in the incidence of anal cancer was identified from 1973 through 1998 [2]. Much of this increased incidence is thought to be attributable to infection with human papillomavirus (HPV), similar to the pathophysiology of cervical cancer. In fact, the presence of high-risk types of human papillomavirus, particularly HPV-16 or HPV-18, has been identified in a large proportion of anal cancer tissue specimens [3-6].

Prevention of anal cancer with screening has been proposed to reduce the burden of disease from this malignancy. However, general population-wide screening with anal Papanicolaou smear would not likely be cost-effective or acceptable to most patients. Recommendations for anal cancer screening that target high-risk groups are needed. Presently, men who have sex with men and immuno-compromised hosts are considered to be at high-risk for anal cancer [7]. In addition, several population-based studies report an increase in anal cancer incidence among women with invasive and in situ cervical cancer [8, 9] as well as invasive vulvar and vaginal cancer [10]. At this time, few data exist regarding the risk associated with in situ gynecologic neoplasm, and whether it differs from the risk associated with invasive gynecologic neoplasm [11]. We used the SEER registry, a large population-based cancer registry, to measure the incidence of secondary anal cancers in a cohort of women with either in situ or invasive cervical, vulvar, or vaginal human papillomavirus-related neoplasm. We also characterized the duration between the diagnoses of the human papillomavirus-related gynecologic neoplasm and anal cancer and investigated whether radiation therapy for gynecologic cancer modifies the risk of a subsequent anal cancer.

METHODS

Data

We used data from the SEER Program for this study and included 17 registries from Atlanta, Connecticut, Detroit, Hawaii, Iowa, New Mexico, San Francisco-Oakland, Seattle-Puget Sound, Utah, Greater California, Kentucky, Louisiana, New Jersey, Georgia and the Alaska, Los Angeles and San Jose-Monterey [12]. Information collected by SEER includes patient characteristics, tumor site, grade, stage, first course of treatment, and follow-up for vital status [13]. We hold a data use agreement with the National Cancer Institute and our study protocols were reviewed and considered exempt by the Lahey Clinic Institutional Review Board. The SEER public access user file makes every effort to protect the identities of cancer patients. The data use agreement specifically requests that all research results must be presented or published in a manner that ensures that no individual can be identified [13]. As per our data use agreement, we have hidden all sample sizes of fewer than five patients.

Patient selection

We identified all women diagnosed with invasive cervical, vaginal, or vulvar cancer from 1973 to 2007 or in situ cervical, vaginal, or vulvar cancer from 1973 to 1995. The SEER program ceased tracking in situ tumors of the cervix after 1995. The inclusion criteria were all girls and women older than 15 years of age at the time of a primary diagnosis of invasive cervical, vulvar, or vaginal cancer that was histopathologically categorized as squamous cell carcinoma. A total of 56,876 girls and women had an invasive gynecologic neoplasm, and 7,886 were excluded because of a history of previous primary cancer. Also excluded were 22,625 women with primary gynecologic neoplasm of the following cell types: adenocarcinoma, adenosquamous carcinoma, endometrioid adenocarcinoma, serous adenocarcinoma, and undifferentiated carcinoma. Study size was determined by number of patients who met inclusion and exclusion criteria.

Subsequent Anal Cancer

We identified all women who developed squamous cell cancers of the anus after a primary diagnosis of either in situ or invasive primary gynecologic neoplasm. Two methods were used for selection of secondary anal cancer cases: the restrictive and the inclusive methods. In the restrictive method, we limited our cases to women who developed anal cancer as the second primary cancer. If another cancer developed between the gynecologic neoplasm and anal cancer, then it was excluded in the restrictive method. In the inclusive method, anal cancer could develop as a second, third or fourth primary cancer. Standardized incidence ratios were calculated by both methods. Thirteen women who developed a second primary anal cancer within 1 year of the primary gynecologic diagnosis were also excluded to avoid potential bias of synchronous tumors, which may have made determination of time sequence difficult.

Statistical Analysis

The computation of standardized incidence ratios was conducted using indirect standardization methods applied to the person-time accumulated among individuals meeting inclusion criteria from the SEER population. Person-years at risk for the development of subsequent cancers for each woman began at 2 months after the date of diagnosis of the gynecologic cancer and ended at the date of last contact with the patient, death, or end of the study period on December 2006, whichever was earliest. The person-years and observed cases of subsequent anal cancers were stratified according to patient age at initial gynecologic neoplasm diagnosis (5-year groups), race or ethnicity, and 5-year calendar intervals. Anal cancer incidence rates among the female population were calculated and stratified by age, race, and calendar-year group, and were multiplied by the person-years accrued by the gynecologic cancer cases to estimate the expected numbers of subsequent cancers for each stratum. The observed and expected numbers of subsequent cancers for each stratum were then summed. The standardized incidence ratio represents the ratio of the observed number divided by the expected number of subsequent cancers. Briefly, the standardized incidence ratio reports the incidence of cancer in a population at risk compared with an expected incidence of cancer in a population determined to be at average risk or "normal". For example, a standardized incidence ratio of 1.0 indicates that the observed number of anal cancer cases in those patients with a history of gynecologic neoplasm is equal to what would be the expected number of anal cancer cases from a comparison "average" population in the SEER program. A standardized incidence ratio greater than 1.0 would indicate that more cancer cases occurred than expected; thus a standardized incidence ratio of 2.0 should be interpreted as observing twice as many anal cancer cases among a population with gynecologic neoplasia than the expected number among an "average" population of women. Confidence intervals (CIs) for the standardized incidence ratios were calculated using Vandenbroucke Method [14]. Standardized incidence ratios were calculated separately for in situ and invasive cancers. SEER*STAT and SAS 9.2 were used for data analysis [13].

In an effort to assess the potential effects of radiotherapy on the subsequent development of primary anal cancers, gynecologic cancer cases were stratified by whether they received radiation therapy (yes or no) and standardized incidence ratios were calculated

5

as described above within these strata. A total of 1,103 women with unknown radiotherapy status were excluded from this analysis.

We also described the time period between the primary gynecologic neoplasm and subsequent anal cancer diagnosis using means and standard deviations and tested for differences between invasive and in situ neoplasm with the Student *t* test. Finally, we used Kaplan-Meier curves to characterize the risk of anal caner over the duration of follow-up.

RESULTS

Index Cohort

We identified a total of 189,206 cases: 132,330 cases of in situ human papillomavirus-related gynecologic neoplasm (124,075 cervical, 6,792 vulvar, and 1,463 vaginal) and 56,876 cases of invasive gynecologic neoplasm (43,669 cervical, 9,950 vulvar, and 3,257 vaginal). Demographic characteristics of the index cohort are presented in Table 1.

Risk of Anal Cancer

Using the inclusive method, we identified 255 cases of anal cancer, 58 anal cancers among women with invasive primary gynecologic neoplasm and 197 anal cancers after an in situ gynecologic neoplasm, during a follow-up of 138,553,519 person-years (Table 2). The aggregate standardized incidence ratio for the incidence of anal cancer in all patients with gynecologic neoplasm was 13.6 (95% CI 11.9 – 15.3). The standardized incidence ratio for the incidence of anal cancer was 6.2 (95% CI 4.1 – 8.7), 17.4 (95% CI 11.5 – 24.4) and 1.8 (95% CI 0.2 – 5.3) for women with invasive cervical, vulvar, and vaginal cancer, respectively (Table 3). The standardized incidence ratios for women with in situ gynecologic neoplasm were higher than those for women with invasive cancers. The standardized incidence ratio for the incidence of anal cancer was 16.4 (95% CI 13.7 – 19.2), 22.2 (95% CI 16.7 - 28.4), 7.6 (95% CI 2.4 - 15.6) for women with in situ cervical, vulvar, and vaginal cancer, respectively (Table 3).

The analyses were repeated using the restrictive method to remove the potential of confounding from other cancer treatment. Using this approach, the standardized incidence ratio for anal cancer was 5.1 (95% CI: 3.2 - 7.4), 14.3 (95% CI: 9.0 - 20.9) and 1.8 (95% CI

7

0.2 - 5.4) for women with an initial invasive cervical, vulvar, and vaginal cancer diagnosis, respectively. The standardized incidence ratio for anal cancer was 14.3 (95% CI 12.0 – 17.2), 16.1 (95% CI 11.4 – 21.6) and 6.1 (95% CI: 1.50 – 13.6) for in situ cervical, vulvar, and vaginal neoplasm, respectively.

Latency of Anal Cancer

Kaplan-Meier curves characterizing the time to anal cancer diagnosis for each gynecologic malignancy were calculated. The mean time interval between the incidence of primary gynecologic malignancy and the diagnosis of a second primary anal cancer was longest in women with in situ cervical cancer (15.7 years). In fact, the interval between diagnoses was longer for in situ compared with invasive cancers for all gynecologic neoplasm, although the small number of anal cancers observed among the vaginal cancer cases limits this conclusion (Table 4).

The effect of Radiation therapy

Radiation therapy was reported as a treatment used in 23,884 (55.6 %) women with invasive cervical cancer, 2,215 (22.7 %) women with invasive vulvar cancer, and 2,008 (63.6%) women with invasive vaginal cancer. The risk of anal cancer in women with a previous cervical cancer diagnosis was similar among women who did not receive radiotherapy (standardized incidence ratio= 3.1, 95% CI 1.6 - 4.9) compared with those who did (standardized incidence ratio= 2.9, 95% CI 1.5 - 4.6) (Table 5). The data for vulvar and vaginal cancer were inconclusive.

Discussion

We identified a significant association between gynecologic neoplasm and anal

cancer for both in situ and invasive cancers of the cervix and vulva and in situ neoplasm of the vagina. The highest risk for anal cancer was identified in those women with evidence of either in situ or invasive squamous cell cancer of the vulva. These data indicate that women with both in situ and invasive cancers of the cervix and vulva are at higher risk for developing anal cancer than the general population and may benefit from close observation and anal cancer screening.

The pathway of human papillomavirus-related malignant transformation for cervical cancer has been well established and has led to effective prevention strategies. The National Cancer Institute recommends cervical cancer screening with Papanicolaou smear at least once every 3 years, starting within 3 years of the initiation of sexual intercourse, but no later than age 21 [15]. Although randomized controlled trials demonstrating a benefit to cervical cancer screening have not been conducted, observational studies from the International Agency for Research on Cancer have shown a 91%-94% reduction in cervical cancer incidence with screening [16]. The incidence of cervical cancer decreased from 32 cases per 100,000 women in the 1940s to 8.3 cases per 100,000 women in the 1980s in the United States, and is largely attributed to increased use of cervical cytology to detect precursor lesions [17].

Although it would be impractical and not cost-effective to implement a policy of routine anal cancer screening in the United States for all sexually active adults, screening has been proposed for individuals at elevated risk for anal cancer. Given that routine Papanicolaou smear screening has significantly reduced cervical cancer incidence and mortality across many populations, it is expected that similar screening of populations at high risk for anal cancer precursor lesions will also reduce the burden of this disease [18]. To

9

accomplish this goal, high-risk groups must be identified to properly target those individuals who may benefit. Our data reveal that women with a previous gynecologic neoplasm represent a high-risk group, particularly those women with vulvar neoplasm.

Epidemiologic data reveal that as in cervical cancer, the majority of patients with anal squamous cell cancer have had associated infection with a similar HPV subtypes. In particular, HPV-16 is the most commonly isolated subtype from anal cancer tissue specimens (cite ref 3). Given the common precursor for anal and gynecologic squamous cell cancers, a common pathway for cancer transformation in the genitalia and anus has been proposed, thereby placing women with genital cancers at higher risk for developing anal cancer. Previous data have shown that women with cervical, vulvar, and vaginal cancers are at higher risk for anal human papillomavirus infection and anal intraepithelial neoplasia [19-22]. In addition, population-based studies reveal that the risk of anal cancer is significantly greater in women with in situ or invasive cervical cancer [8]. Our study using population-based data from the United States reports a standardized incidence ratio of 16.3 and 6.2 for women with in situ and invasive cervical cancer, respectively. The increased risk among the in situ group may be due to differences in treatment, surveillance, strain of human papillomavirus, or other host defenses. Not surprisingly, because of the proximity, the highest risk of anal cancer was noted in women with in situ vulvar neoplasm. Length of follow-up is unlikely to account for the increased risk with in situ neoplasia as our study did adjust for patient follow-up. Other possible explanations for the increased risk of anal cancer with in situ neoplasm may be related to differences in treatment, surveillance, strain of human papillomavirus, or other host defenses.

In addition to the increased risk of anal cancer with in situ neoplasm, we also

evaluated the role of radiation in modifying the association between gynecologic neoplasm and anal cancer. We hypothesized that exposure to irradiation would prevent development of anal cancer, given the therapeutic role of irradiation as a component of the Nigro protocol, consisting of 5-flurouracil, mitomycin C, and 30 Gy of radiation therapy [23]. Chaturvedi *et al* similarly examined the incidence of secondary cancers after cervical cancer and found that all women had a higher risk of developing anal cancer compared with the general population, regardless of radiation therapy status [24] Consistent with their result, we found that women with invasive gynecologic malignancy who were exposed to radiotherapy had a similar risk of anal cancer compared with those who did not receive radiotherapy. Our findings are not compatible with our hypothesis that radiation therapy sterilizes dysplasia in those areas included in the field of treatment, including the anus.

Our study has limitations related to the nature of the data used in our analyses. First, although the data are collected prospectively, we analyzed the data retrospectively, which might lead to selection or information bias. Second, migration of participants out of the states included in the SEER registry may have limited the capture of second primary tumors. Migration status is not recorded in our dataset [25] and might lead to underreporting of second primary cancers, resulting in a conservative estimate of subsequent cancer risk. Additionally, we were unable to explore the role of human papillomavirus-positive status because the tumor registry does not record this information. However, it is acknowledged that human papillomavirus infection is present in almost all cases of cervical cancer [26], and in the vast proportion of cases of vulvar, and vaginal cancer [27]. Fourth, we were unable to identify the role of HIV on the overall effect toward anal cancer development. It is clear that patients with HIV are at increased risk for squamous cell cancer of the anus, and that

11

infection with this virus rose substantially during the study period. A fifth limitation is that cancer patients are often under more intense medical surveillance than the general population, leading to ascertainment bias [11] and a possible inflation of the standardized incidence ratio. Notwithstanding the potential biases and caveats described, the SEER program is an excellent population-based tool that broadly characterizes cancer epidemiology and treatment, avoiding potential biases that can be introduced in hospital-based studies as a result of area referral patterns and incomplete follow-up [25].

In conclusion, our study has demonstrated that women with a wide range of primary human papillomavirus-related gynecologic neoplasm are at higher risk for developing anal cancer compared with the general population. On average, anal cancer developed between 4 and 16 years after diagnosis and thus, women with gynecologic neoplasm may benefit from early anal cancer screening. According to our data, those treated with irradiation are not protected from the development of incident anal cancer and should still be considered high risk. At this time, cost-effectiveness analyses are needed to determine the value of anal cancer screening in women with primary human papillomavirus-related gynecologic neoplasm.

Tables

	Cervical		Va	ginal	Vulvar		
	In situ	Invasive	In situ	Invasive	In situ	Invasive	
Gynecologic cancer cases	124,075	43,669	1,463	3,257	6,792	9,950	
Race							
White	103,314 (83.2)	33,005 (75.5)	1,194 (81.6)	2,642 (81.2)	5,956 (87.7)	8,890 (89.4)	
African American	14,862 (12.0)	6,725 (15.4)	203 (13.9)	459 (14.0)	685 (10.1)	838 (8.4)	
Other	5,899 (4.8)	3,939 (9.1)	66 (4.5)	156 (4.8)	151 (2.2)	222 (2.2)	
Age at diagnosis							
(y)							
15-19	3,174 (2.6)	44 (0.1)	23 (1.6)	1 (0.03)	87 (1.3)	4 (0.04%)	
20-24	18,028 (14.5)	613 (1.4)	56 (3.8)	6 (0.2)	321 (4.7)	19 (0.2)	
25-29	30,675 (24.7)	2,394 (5.5)	52 (3.6)	15 (0.5)	516 (7.6)	59 (0.6)	
30-34	26,490 (21.4)	4,217 (9.7)	66 (4.5)	27 (0.8)	680 (10.0)	167 (1.7)	
35-39	17,039 (13.7)	5,038 (11.5)	88 (6.0)	87 (2.7)	783 (11.5)	366 (3.7)	
40-44	10,497 (8.5)	5,335 (12.2)	119 (8.1)	107 (3.3)	839 (12.4)	507 (5.1)	
45-49	6,078 (4.9)	4,883 (11.2)	122 (8.3)	172 (5.3)	714 (10.5)	683 (6.9)	
50-54	3,397 (2.7)	4,254 (9.7)	148 (10.1)	234 (7.2)	586 (8.6)	754 (7.6)	
55-59	2,386 (1.9)	3,813 (8.7)	152 (10.4)	278 (8.5)	502 (7.4)	739 (7.4)	
60-64	2,050 (1.7)	3,466 (7.9)	159 (10.9)	320 (9.8)	463 (6.8)	735 (7.4)	
65-69	1,805 (1.5)	3,083 (7.1)	161 (11.0)	380 (11.7)	464 (6.8)	887 (8.9)	
70-74	1,228 (1.0)	2,356 (5.4)	139 (9.5)	403 (12.4)	362 (5.3)	1,125(11.3)	
75-79	701 (0.6)	1,830 (4.2)	102 (7.0)	431 (13.2)	269 (4.0)	1,321(13.3)	
80-84	362 (0.3)	1,254 (2.9)	53 (3.6)	366 (11.2)	124 (1.8)	1,169(11.8)	
85 or older	165 (0.1)	1,089 (2.5)	23 (1.6)	430 (13.2)	82 (1.2)	1,415(14.2)	
Vital Status							
Alive	109,836 (88.5)	23,981(54.9)	816 (55.9)	1,080 (33.2)	4,459 (65.7)	4,535 (45.6)	
Dead *	14,239 (11.5)	19,688 (45.1)	647 (44.1)	2,177 (66.8)	2,333 (34.3)	5,415 (54.4)	
			, , ,		,		
					1	1	

Table 1. Characteristics of Cohort With Cervical, Vaginal, and Vulvar Neoplasm Using the Inclusive Method.

Data are n or n (%)

* Patient's vital status at the date of last contact, death, or end of the study period on December 2006, whichever was earliest.

	Cer	vical	Va	ginal	Vu	Vulvar		
	In situ	Invasive	In situ	Invasive	In situ	Invasive		
Number of Anal Cancer Cases	137	28	5	Fewer than 5*	55	28		
Race White African American Other Age at anal cancer	116(84.7) 11(8.0) 10(7.3)	24(85.8) 4(14.2) 0	4(80) 1(20) 0	-	45(81.8) 9(16.4) 1(1.8)	22(78.6) 5(17.9) 1(3.5)		
diagnosis,								
n (%)								
15-19								
20-24	0	0	0	-	0	0		
25-29	0	0	0	-	0	0		
30-34	1(0.73)	0	0	-	1(1.8)	1(3.6)		
35-39	4(2.9)	0	1(20)	-	1(1.8)	2(7.1)		
40-44	11(8.0)	2(7.1)	0	-	7(12.7)	1(3.6)		
45-49	18(13.1)	3(10.7)	2(40)	-	1(1.8)	0		
50-54	17(12.4)	0	0	-	13(23.6)	3(10.7)		
55-59	26(19.0)	4(14.3)	0	-	12(21.8)	1(3.6)		
60-64	24(17.5)	3(10.7)	1(20)	-	9(16.4)	9(32.1)		
65-69	14(10.2)	4(14.3)	0	-	6(11.0)	3(10.7)		
70-74	5(3.6)	5(17.9)	0	-	4(7.3)	1(3.6)		
75-79	8(5.8)	3(10.7)	0	-	0	0		
80-84	7(5.1)	1(3.6)	0	-	1(1.8)	5(17.9)		
85 or older	1(0.7)	2(7.1)	0	-	0	0		
	1(0.7)	1(3.6)	1(20)	-	0	2(7.1)		

Table 2. Characteristics of Anal Cancer Patients With Initial Gynecologic Neoplasm Using The Inclusive Method.

* These data hidden as per our data-use agreement with the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results program.

Primary Gynecologi c Neoplasm	In situ vs. invasive	Race	Observed	Expected*	Standardized Incidence Ratio	95 % CI**
		Total	137	8.4	16.4	13.7 - 19.2
	In situ	White	116	6.6	17.4	14.4 - 20.7
Cervical		African American	11	1.4	7.6	3.8 - 12.8
		Other	10	0.26	38.46	18.3 - 66.0
		Total	28	4.5	6.2	4.1 - 8.7
	Invasive	White	24	3.5	6.8	4.3 - 9.8
		African American	<5**	0.8	5.1	1.3 - 11.2
		Total	55	2.5	22.2	16.7 - 28.4
	In situ	White	45	2.2	20.3	14.8 - 26.6
Vulvar		African American	9	0.2	37.5	17.0 - 66.0
		Total	28	1.6	17.4	11.5 - 24.4
	Invasive	White	22	1.5	14.8	9.2 - 21.6
		African American	5	0.1	45.5	14.3 - 94.0
	In situ	Total	5	0.7	7.6	2.4 - 15.6
Vaginal	Invasive	Total	< 5***	<5***	1.8	0.2 - 5.3

 Table 3. Standardized Incidence Ratio of Anal Cancer in Patients With In Situ and Invasive

 Gynecologic Neoplasm Divided by Race Using the Inclusive Method.

* The expected cases were calculated from Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results 9, stratified by age, race, and calendar-year group.

** The Confidence interval was calculated using the Vandenbroucke Method.

*** These data hidden as per data-use agreement with the Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results program.

Table 4. Time Interval Between Gynecologic Neoplasm and Anal Cancer.

Primary Gynecologic Neoplasm	Number Of Anal Cancer Cases	Mean (Median) Time Between diagnoses (y)	Minimum Time Between Diagnoses (y)	Maximum Time Between Diagnoses, (y)	P value*
Cervical Neop	lasm				
Invasive	28	11.4(13)	0	29	0.01
In situ	137	15.7(16)	0	30	0.01
Vulvar Neopla	sm				
Invasive	28	7.1(4.5)	0	23	0.24
In situ	55	8.9(8)	0	23	0.24
Vaginal Neopla	asm				
Invasive	<5**	4.5(4.5)	3	6	0.22
In situ	5	11(11.5)	1	16	0.22

*Student *t* test was used to estimate the *P* value.

**These data hidden as per data-use agreement with the Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results program.

Table 5. Standardized Incidence Ratio of Anal Cancer Among Women With Invasive Cervical,and Vulvar Neoplasia by Mode of Treatment*.

		Cervical Ne	oplasm	Vulvar Neoplasm		
Mode of Treatment*	Observed	Expected	SIR (95% CI)	Observed	Expected	SIR (95% CI)
Radiotherapy	13	4.5	2.9 (1.5 – 4.6)	< 5	1.6	2.5(0.6 - 5.5)
No Radiotherapy	14	4.5	3.1 (1.6 - 4.9)	20	1.6	12.4(7.5 - 18.4)

CI, Confidence interval

* Women with unknown mode of treatment were excluded.

References

- American Cancer Society Detailed Guide: Anal Cancer. 2010 08/20/2010 [cited 2010 7th of October]; Available from: <u>http://www.cancer.org/Cancer/AnalCancer/DetailedGuide/anal-cancer-what-is-key-statistics</u>.
- 2. Maggard, M.A., S.R. Beanes, and C.Y. Ko, *Anal canal cancer: a population-based reappraisal*. Dis Colon Rectum, 2003. **46**(11): p. 1517-23; discussion 1523-4; author reply 1524.
- 3. Frisch, M., et al., *Sexually transmitted infection as a cause of anal cancer*. N Engl J Med, 1997. **337**(19): p. 1350-8.
- 4. Daling, J.R., et al., *Human papillomavirus, smoking, and sexual practices in the etiology of anal cancer*. Cancer, 2004. **101**(2): p. 270-80.
- 5. Bjorge, T., et al., *Human papillomavirus infection as a risk factor for anal and perianal skin cancer in a prospective study.* Br J Cancer, 2002. **87**(1): p. 61-4.
- 6. Carter, J.J., et al., *Human papillomavirus 16 and 18 L1 serology compared across anogenital cancer sites.* Cancer Res, 2001. **61**(5): p. 1934-40.
- 7. *NYS Guidelines recommendations on anal pap smears*. [cited 2010 July 16]; Available from: <u>http://www.natap.org/2010/HIV/032510_01.htm</u>.
- 8. Edgren, G. and P. Sparen, *Risk of anogenital cancer after diagnosis of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia: a prospective population-based study.* Lancet Oncol, 2007. **8**(4): p. 311-6.
- 9. Hemminki, K., C. Dong, and P. Vaittinen, *Second primary cancer after in situ and invasive cervical cancer*. Epidemiology, 2000. **11**(4): p. 457-61.
- 10. Jimenez, W., et al., *Presumed previous human papillomavirus (HPV) related gynecological cancer in women diagnosed with anal cancer in the province of Ontario*. Gynecol Oncol, 2009. **114**(3): p. 395-8.
- 11. Curtis RE, F.D., Ron E, Ries LAG, Hacker DG, Edwards BK, Tucker MA, Fraumeni JF Jr. (eds). *New Malignancies Among Cancer Survivors: SEER Cancer Registries, 1973-2000. National Cancer Institute, NIH Publ. No. 05-5302. Bethesda, MD, 2006.* 2006.
- 12. National cancer institute's Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results SEER Registries. . [cited 2009 December]; Available from: <u>http://seer.cancer.gov/registries/index.html</u>.
- 13. National cancer institute's Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results -SEER*Stat Software, Version 6.62. [cited 2009 December]; Available from: http://seer.cancer.gov/seerstat/.
- 14. Vandenbrocke, J.P., *A SHORTCUT METHOD FOR CALCULATING THE 95 PER CENT CONFIDENCE INTERVAL OF THE STANDARDIZED MORTALITY RATIO.* American Journal of Epidemiology, 1982. **115**: p. 303-304.
- 15. *National Cancer Institute Pap Tests : Things to Know.* [cited 2010 July 15]; Available from: <u>http://www.cancer.gov/cancertopics/pap-tests-things-to-know</u>.
- 16. Lynge, E., *Screening for cancer of the cervix uteri*. World J Surg, 1989. **13**(1): p. 71-8.

- 17. Devesa, S.S., et al., *Cancer incidence and mortality trends among whites in the United States, 1947-84.* J Natl Cancer Inst, 1987. **79**(4): p. 701-70.
- 18. Arain, S., et al., *The Anal Pap Smear: Cytomorphology of squamous intraepithelial lesions*. Cytojournal, 2005. **2**(1): p. 4.
- 19. Park, I.U., et al., *Anal human papillomavirus infection and abnormal anal cytology in women with genital neoplasia*. Gynecol Oncol, 2009. **114**(3): p. 399-403.
- Ogunbiyi, O.A., et al., Anal human papillomavirus infection and squamous neoplasia in patients with invasive vulvar cancer. Obstet Gynecol, 1994. 83(2): p. 212-6.
- 21. Scholefield, J.H., et al., *Anal and cervical intraepithelial neoplasia: possible parallel.* Lancet, 1989. **2**(8666): p. 765-9.
- 22. Veo, C.A., et al., *Study on the prevalence of human papillomavirus in the anal canal of women with cervical intraepithelial neoplasia grade III*. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol, 2008. **140**(1): p. 103-7.
- 23. Nigro, N.D., *Multidisciplinary management of cancer of the anus*. World J Surg, 1987. **11**(4): p. 446-51.
- 24. Chaturvedi, A.K., et al., *Second cancers among 104,760 survivors of cervical cancer: evaluation of long-term risk.* J Natl Cancer Inst, 2007. **99**(21): p. 1634-43.
- 25. Yu, J.B., et al., *NCI SEER public-use data: applications and limitations in oncology research*. Oncology (Williston Park), 2009. **23**(3): p. 288-95.
- 26. Walboomers, J.M., et al., *Human papillomavirus is a necessary cause of invasive cervical cancer worldwide*. J Pathol, 1999. **189**(1): p. 12-9.
- 27. De Vuyst, H., et al., *Prevalence and type distribution of human papillomavirus in carcinoma and intraepithelial neoplasia of the vulva, vagina and anus: a meta-analysis.* Int J Cancer, 2009. **124**(7): p. 1626-36.

Appendix I: Expanded Background

Human papillomavirus (HPV) is the most common sexually transmitted disease in the United States. HPV is a DNA virus that belongs to the papillomaviridae family, which has a great tropism for epithelial cells in the skin and mucous membranes. HPV has more than 150 types, 40 of them can infect the anogenital tract. It is classified as either high or low risk based on their oncogenic potential. Low risk HPV (HPV 6,11) can cause condylomata acuminata, whereas high risk HPV (HPV 16,18) causes cervical cancer. HPV has been implicated in the pathogenesis of other anogenital tumors, such as vulvar, vaginal, and anal tumors.

Anal squamous cell carcinoma is a rare malignancy of the gastrointestinal tract. Although it is rare, however, in the past 20 years, the incidence of anal squamous cell carcinoma is doubled [1]. In a study used the Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results (SEER) database between 1974 through 2000, it demonstrated an increased incidence of anal cancer among females during that time period [2]. In another study that used both SEER database and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's National Program of Cancer Registries (NPCR), it was reported that the incidence rates of anal cancer among women increased by 2.8% per year between 1992 and 2004 [3]. There is growing evidence-linking HPV to anal cancer[4, 5]. The prevalence of HPV in anal cancer was found to be 90%, and HPV 16 was found in more than 75% of the cases [6]. A case control study conducted in Sweden and Denmark showed that 88% of patients with anal cancer had HPV DNA present in the anal cancer specimens after they were analyzed by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) assay compared to two control groups. Furthermore, it demonstrated that 73% of the specimens were positive for HPV-16 [7]. HPV has also been found in anal intraepithelial neoplasia (AIN) [8, 9].

Both anal and cervical cancers have much in common; they share embryologic, and pathologic features, as well as the type of the oncogenic HPV. However, despite of these similarities, the full natural history of anal intraepithelial neoplasia is not fully known. AIN is classified to low grade (AIN I), and high grade AIN (AIN II or III). High grade AIN is a premalignant lesion and can progress to anal cancer. In a cohort study in HIV positive and HIV negative patients, progression from low grade AIN to high grade AIN was more common among patients who were HIV positive, who had low CD4 count, and who had infection with multiple HPV types [10].

The TNM staging system of squamous cell carcinoma of the anus is dependent on the tumor size (T), nodal involvement (N), and the presence or absence of distant metastasis (M). In a cohort study of 19,195 patients with squamous anal cell carcinoma who were identified from the National Cancer Database between 1985 and 2000, it showed that distant metastasis was present in 5.7% of patients, and nodal involvement was present in 19.5% [11]. Tumor size (T) classification was as follows: T1: 27%, T2: 44.8%, T3: 20.6%, T4: 4.5%. The 5-year survival was 68.5%, 58.9%, 43.1%, and 34.3% for T1, T2, T3, and T4 tumors [11].

The treatment of the squamous cell carcinoma of the anus has changed dramatically over the last 25 years. In the past, the standard treatment was wide local excision or abdominoperineal resection (APR). Outcomes were generally poor, with a

21

high rate of recurrence. A major improvement in the treatment of anal cancer happened after the introduction of the Nigro protocol in 1974 [12]. Nigro protocol consists of 3,000 rad external irradiation to the primary tumor, pelvic and inguinal lymph nodes, and systemic chemotherapy. Currently, chemotherapy and radiotherapy are the treatment strategies for these patients.

Because anal cancer and gynecologic cancers share common risk factors, anal cancer can develop in patients with primary gynecologic neoplasm. In a large Swedish cohort study among women diagnosed with grade 3 cervical intraepithelial neoplasia (CIN3), the incidence rate ratio of anal cancer was 31 among women who were between 18-29 years compared to women with no cervical lesion[13]. Another study reported a standardized incidence ratios (SIRs) of anal cancer after CIN3 and invasive cervical cancer of 5.9, and 6.3, respectively [14]. Swedish study reported SIRs of anal cancer of 3.7, and 3.9 after in situ and invasive cervical cancer, respectively [15]. Another study indicated that women with invasive cervical cancer had a relative risk of 4.6 for subsequent invasive anal cancer[16]. Another cohort study among 205 women with genital intraepithelial neoplasia, 12.2% developed biopsy proven anal intraepithelial neoplasia, and 5.9% had abnormal anal cytology [17]. A cohort study of SEER Registry data reported SIRs of anal cancer of 7.8, 6, and 4.7 after invasive vaginal, vulvar and cervical tumors, respectively [18]. This analysis also revealed a SIR for anal cancer of 17.3 after an in situ vulvar tumor diagnosis.

One of the primary aims of this study was to determine if women who are diagnosed with either in situ or invasive primary gynecologic neoplasm have a higher incidence of anal

22

squamous cell carcinoma compared with the general population. Since the SEER Registry does not include information on viral status, we could not evaluate the association between HPV and anal cancer risk. While there is substantial external biologic and clinical evidence supporting an HPV-anal cancer causal relationship, evaluating this relationship using epidemiologic data was not the goal of our analysis. Instead, our goal was to quantify the excess risk of anal cancer among women with a preceding gynecologic cancer diagnosis with the goal of identifying such a high-risk group. Since general population screening for anal cancer is unlikely to be efficient, there is a critical need to identify subsets of the population who might get maximum benefit from anal cancer screening.

References to Appendix I:

- 1. Greenlee, R.T., et al., *Cancer statistics, 2000.* CA Cancer J Clin, 2000. **50**(1): p. 7-33.
- 2. Johnson, L.G., et al., *Anal cancer incidence and survival: the surveillance, epidemiology, and end results experience, 1973-2000.* Cancer, 2004. **101**(2): p. 281-8.
- 3. Joseph, D.A., et al., *Understanding the burden of human papillomavirusassociated anal cancers in the US.* Cancer, 2008. **113**(10 Suppl): p. 2892-900.
- 4. Palefsky, J.M., et al., *Anal squamous intraepithelial lesions in HIV-positive and HIV-negative homosexual and bisexual men: prevalence and risk factors.* J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol, 1998. **17**(4): p. 320-6.
- 5. Palefsky, J.M., S. Shiboski, and A. Moss, *Risk factors for anal human* papillomavirus infection and anal cytologic abnormalities in HIV-positive and HIV-negative homosexual men. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr, 1994. 7(6): p. 599-606.
- 6. Monsonego, J., [Anal cancer and human papillomaviruses: a perspective based on the cervical cancer model]. Gynecol Obstet Fertil, 2010. **38**(4): p. 250-4.
- 7. Frisch, M., et al., *Sexually transmitted infection as a cause of anal cancer*. N Engl J Med, 1997. **337**(19): p. 1350-8.
- 8. Duggan, M.A., et al., *Human papillomavirus DNA determination of anal condylomata, dysplasias, and squamous carcinomas with in situ hybridization.* Am J Clin Pathol, 1989. **92**(1): p. 16-21.
- Wong, A.K., et al., Human papillomavirus genotypes in anal intraepithelial neoplasia and anal carcinoma as detected in tissue biopsies. Mod Pathol, 2010.
 23(1): p. 144-50.
- 10. Palefsky, J.M., et al., *Virologic, immunologic, and clinical parameters in the incidence and progression of anal squamous intraepithelial lesions in HIV-positive and HIV-negative homosexual men.* J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol, 1998. **17**(4): p. 314-9.
- 11. Bilimoria, K.Y., et al., *Outcomes and prognostic factors for squamous-cell carcinoma of the anal canal: analysis of patients from the National Cancer Data Base.* Dis Colon Rectum, 2009. **52**(4): p. 624-31.
- 12. Nigro, N.D., *Multidisciplinary management of cancer of the anus*. World J Surg, 1987. **11**(4): p. 446-51.
- 13. Edgren, G. and P. Sparen, *Risk of anogenital cancer after diagnosis of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia: a prospective population-based study.* Lancet Oncol, 2007. **8**(4): p. 311-6.
- 14. Evans, H.S., et al., Second primary cancers after cervical intraepithelial neoplasia III and invasive cervical cancer in Southeast England. Gynecol Oncol, 2003. **90**(1): p. 131-6.
- 15. Hemminki, K., C. Dong, and P. Vaittinen, *Second primary cancer after in situ and invasive cervical cancer*. Epidemiology, 2000. **11**(4): p. 457-61.
- 16. Rabkin, C.S., et al., Second primary cancers following anal and cervical

carcinoma: evidence of shared etiologic factors. Am J Epidemiol, 1992. **136**(1): p. 54-8.

- 17. Santoso, J.T., et al., *Anal intraepithelial neoplasia in women with genital intraepithelial neoplasia*. Obstet Gynecol, 2010. **116**(3): p. 578-82.
- 18. Sturgeon, S.R., et al., *Second primary cancers after vulvar and vaginal cancers*. Am J Obstet Gynecol, 1996. **174**(3): p. 929-33.

Appendix II: Results of the Restrictive Method

Index Cohort

Using the restrictive method, we identified a total of 181,997 cases: 129,118 cases of in situ human papillomavirus-related gynecologic neoplasm (121,843 cervical, 5,807 vulvar, and 1,458 vaginal) and 52,879 cases of invasive gynecologic neoplasm (41,793 cervical, 8,543 vulvar, and 2,543 vaginal). Demographic characteristics of the index cohort are presented in Table 6.

Risk of Anal Cancer

Using the restrictive method, we identified 206 cases of anal cancer, 46 anal cancers among women with invasive primary gynecologic neoplasm and 160 anal cancers after an in situ gynecologic neoplasm, during a follow-up of 138,553,519 personyears (Table 7). The standardized incidence ratio for the incidence of anal cancer was 5.1 (95% CI 3.2 - 7.4), 14.3 (95% CI 9.0 - 20.9) and 1.8 (95% CI 0.2 - 5.4) for women with invasive cervical, vulvar, and vaginal cancer, respectively (Table 8). The standardized incidence ratios for women with in situ gynecologic neoplasm were higher than those for women with invasive cancers. The standardized incidence ratio for the incidence of anal cancer of anal cancer was 14.3 (95% CI 12.0 - 17.2), 16.1 (95% CI 11.4 - 21.6), 6.1 (95% CI 1.5 - 13.6) for women with in situ cervical, vulvar, and vaginal cancer, respectively (Table 8).

Latency of Anal Cancer

Kaplan-Meier curves characterizing the time to anal cancer diagnosis for each gynecologic malignancy were calculated. The mean time interval between the incidence of primary gynecologic malignancy and the diagnosis of a second primary anal cancer was longest in women with in situ cervical cancer (16.2 years). In fact, the interval between diagnoses was longer for in situ compared with invasive cancers for all gynecologic neoplasm, although the small number of anal cancers observed among the vaginal cancer cases limits this conclusion (Table 9).

The effect of Radiation therapy

The risk of anal cancer in women with a previous cervical cancer diagnosis was similar among women who did not receive radiotherapy (standardized incidence ratio= 2,9, 95% CI 1.5 - 4.6) compared with those who did (standardized incidence ratio= 2.2, 95% CI 1.0 - 3.8) (Table 10). The data for vulvar and vaginal cancer were inconclusive.

Appendix III: Tables of the Restrictive Method

Table 6. Characteristics of Cohort With Cervical, Vaginal, and Vulvar Neoplasm Using the Restrictive Method.

	Cervical		Vaginal		Vulvar	
	In situ	Invasive	In situ	Invasive	In situ	Invasive
Gynecologic cancer	121,843	41,793	1,458	2,543	5,807	8,543
cases						
Race						
White	101,497 (83.3)	31,588(75.5)	1,198 (82.1)	2,060 (81.0)	5,084 (87.5)	7,638 (89.4)
African American	14,571 (11.9)	6,401 (15.3)	204 (13.9)	364 (14.3)	583 (10.0)	715 (8.3)
Other	5,775 (4.7)	3,804 (9.1)	56 (3.5)	119(4.6)	140 (2.4)	190 (2.2)
Age at gynecologic						
cancer diagnosis (y)						
15-19						
20-24	3,160 (2.5)	44 (0.1)	23 (1.5)	1 (0.04)	82 (1.4)	4 (0.05%)
25-29	17,940 (14.7)	603 (1.4)	56 (3.8)	6 (0.2)	286 (4.9)	18 (0.2)
30-34	30,431 (24.9)	2,352 (5.6)	52 (3.5)	12 (0.4)	442 (7.6)	52 (0.6)
35-39	26,195 (21.5)	4,131 (9.8)	67 (4.5)	19 (0.7)	572 (9.8)	147 (1.7)
40-44	16,777 (13.7)	4,901 (11.7)	88 (5.9)	59 (2.3)	659 (11.3)	322 (3.7)
45-49	10,242 (8.4)	5,164(12.3)	121 (8.2)	80 (3.1)	721 (12.4)	448 (5.2)
50-54	5,888 (4.8)	4,699 (11.2)	122 (8.3)	134 (5.2)	635 (10.9)	597 (6.9)
55-59	3,230 (2.6)	4,072 (9.7)	148 (10.0)	183 (7.2)	507 (8.7)	637 (7.4)
60-64	2,249 (1.8)	3,645 (8.7)	153 (10.4)	219 (8.6)	437 (7.5)	644 (7.5)
65-69	1,903 (1.5)	3,276 (7.8)	159 (10.8)	247 (9.7)	398 (6.8)	615 (7.2)
70-74	1,650 (1.3)	2,916 (6.9)	161 (10.9)	291 (11.4)	372 (6.4)	764 (8.9)
75-79	1,107 (0.9)	2,187 (5.2)	134 (9.1)	306 (12.0)	308 (5.3)	962 (11.2)
80-84	619 (0.5)	1,688 (4.0)	102 (6.9)	335 (13.1)	222 (3.8)	1,146(13.4)
<u>> 85</u>	310 (0.2)	1,129 (2.7)	53 (3.6)	298 (11.7)	105 (1.8)	979 (11.4)
	142 (0.1)	986 (2.3)	24 (1.6)	353 (13.8)	61 (1.0)	1,208(14.1)
Vital Status						
Alive	108,454 (89.0)	23,130(55.3)	812 (55.6)	804 (31.6)	3,883(66.8)	3,827 (44.8)
Dead *	13,389 (10.9)	18,633 (44.6)	648 (44.1)	1,739 (68.3)	1,924 (33.1)	4,716 (55.2)

Data are n or n(%)

* Patient's vital status at the date of last contact, death, or end of the study period on December 2006, whichever was earliest.

	Cer	vical	Vu	ılvar
	In situ	Invasive	In situ	Invasive
Anal Cancer Cases (n)	120	23	40	23
Race				
White	103(85.8)	21(91.3)	32 (80.0)	19(82.6)
African American	8 (6.7)	2(8.7)	7 (17.5)	3(13.0)
Other	9 (7.5)	0	1 (2.5)	1 (4.4)
Age at anal cancer				
diagnosis,				
n (%)				
15-19	0	0	0	0
20-24	0	0	0	0
25-29	2 (1.7)	0	0	1(4.4)
30-34	4 (3.3)	0	1 (2.5)	1 (4.4)
35-39	8 (6.7)	2 (8.7)	3 (7.5)	0
40-44	14(11.7)	2 (8.7)	0	0
45-49	24 (20.0)	0	11(27.5)	3 (13.0)
50-54	22(18.3)	4(17.4)	10 (25.0)	1 (4.4)
55-59	13(10.8)	1(4.4)	8 (20.0)	6 (26.1)
60-64	5 (4.2)	4(17.4)	3 (7.5)	3(13.0)
65-69	8 (6.7)	4(17.4)	3 (7.5)	1 (4.4)
70-74	5 (4.2)	2 (8.7)	0	0
75-79	1 (0.8)	1(4.4)	1 (2.5)	5(21.7)
80-84	1 (0.8)	2(8.7)	0	0
<u>>85</u>	13(10.8)	1(4.4)	0	2 (8.7)

*Table 7. Characteristics of Patients with Anal Cancer with Initial Gynecologic Neoplasm Using the Restrictive Method *.*

*There were less than 5 patients in both, in situ and invasive vaginal cancer. These data hidden as per our data-use agreement with the Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results program.

Primary Gynecologic Neoplasm	In situ vs. invasive	Race	Observed	Expected*	SIR	95 % CI**
		Total	120	8.4	14.3	12.0 - 17.2
	In situ	White	104	6.7	15.6	12.7 - 18.8
Cervical		African American	8	1.4	5.5	2.3 - 10.2
		Other	9	0.2	34.6	15.4 - 61.5
		Total	23	4.5	5.1	3.2 -7.4
	Invasive	White	21	3.5	5.9	3.6 - 8.8
		African American	<5	0.8	2.5	0.21 - 7.4
		Other	-	-	-	-
		Total	40	2.5	16.1	11.4 - 21.6
	In situ	White	32	2.2	14.4	9.8 - 20.0
Vulvar		African American	7	0.2	29.2	11.3 - 55.4
		Other	<5	0.02	50	0-200
		Total	23	1.6	14.3	9.0 - 20.9
	Invasive	White	19	1.5	12.7	7.6 - 19.3
		African American	<5	0.1	27.2	4.9 - 67.9
		Other	<5	0.01	100	0-400
Vaginal	In situ	Total	<5	0.66	6.1	1.5 - 13.6
, «Sınaı	in situ	Total	<5	1.1	1.8	0.2 - 5.4
N C 1	Invasive	i stai			1.0	0.2 - 3.4

Table 8. Standardized Incidence Ratio of Anal Cancer in Patients With In Situ and Invasive Gynecologic Neoplasm Divided By Race Using The Restrictive Method.

CI, confidence interval. * The expected cases were calculated from Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results 9, stratified by age, race, nd calendar-year group.

* The CI was calculated using the Vandenbroucke Method.

Table 9. Time Interval Between Gynecologic Neoplasm and Anal Cancer Using the Restrictive Method.

Primary Gynecologic Neoplasm	Anal Cancer Cases (n)	Mean Time Between Diagnoses (y)	Minimum Time Between Diagnoses (y)	Maximum Time Between Diagnoses (y)	P value *
Cervical Neoplas	m				
Invasive	23	11.7	1	24	0.02
In situ	120	16.2	1	30	0.02
Vulvar Neoplasm					
Invasive	23	8.3	1	23	0.27
In situ	40	10.2	1	23	0.27
Vaginal Neoplasn	n	·			
Invasive	<5**	4.5	3	6	0.27
In situ	<5**	11.25	1	16	0.27

*Student *t* test was used to estimate P value

** These data hidden as per our data-use agreement with the Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results Program.

Table 10. Standardized Incidence Ratio of Anal Cancer Among Women With Invasive Cervical
and Vulvae Neoplasm by Mode of Treatment Using the Restrictive Method $*^{\dagger}$

	Cervical Neoplasm			Vulvar Neoplasm		
Mode of treatment	Observed	Expected	SIR (95% CI)	Observed	Expected	SIR (95% CI)
Radiotherapy	10	4.54	2.2 (1.0-3.8)	6	1.61	3.73 (1.3-7.30)
No Radiotherapy	13	4.54	2.9 (1.5-4.6)	19	1.61	11.8 (7.1-17.7)

*There were less than 5 patients in both, in situ and invasive vaginal cancer. These data hidden as per our data-use agreement with the Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results program. [†]Women with unknown mode of treatment were excluded.